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TRANSLATORS’ NOTE


The editors of the French original of young Yves Congar’s Diary of the 1914-1918 War explain that they had respected the original French text as far as possible in transcribing it for publication. This created a number of problems for the translators, faced with a text written by a child aged ten in 1914 and fourteen when the war came to an end in 1918; a text, moreover, which not only reproduced the spelling and grammatical errors found in the original, but also the vocabulary of the dialect of the Ardennes where the Congar family lived. In order to convey both the meaning and the mood of the original as simply and faithfully as possible, a number of the footnotes in the French text clarifying mis-spellings or other anomalies in the French have been omitted in the English text, while at the same time additional footnotes have been inserted where deemed necessary.


Ten-year old Yves’ spelling was poor, and he was very sparing in the use of full stops and capital letters. Where necessary, words or punctuation not actually in the original have been inserted in square brackets in the translation, while at the same time all question marks and other oddities contained in the French text as printed have been faithfully reproduced.


It seems important to note that the diary as we have it is the result of careful editing on the part of its youthful author. He seems to have made brief notes of events more or less as they happened, and to have written them up (and illustrated them) at some later date. This is clear from the entry for 9th March 1918 which begins as follows:


‘There were bombs at one o’clock in the morning; I do not remember having heard them (I am writing this on 13th April, my birthday, on which there was a real bombardment)’.


This procedure probably explains the confusion about dates that is apparent from time to time and perhaps also the fact that he never actually finished the diary. The last entry was written on 8th November 1918, three days before the Armistice, and it was not until July 1923 that he finally rounded off his diary, so to speak, largely on the basis of his brother Robert’s own diary entries about the last days of the war.


Mary John RONAYNE OP
Helen T FRANK
24 October 2014









INTRODUCTORY COMMENTS BY JEAN-PIERRE JOSSUA OP


YVES CONGAR was born in Sedan in 1904. A primary reason for publishing his diary of the 1914-1918 war is the fact that he was deeply rooted in his environment, his hometown, his country, with the patriotism and that love for the army characteristic of a frontier area, even though all these things are expressed here in a child’s way. He was rooted also in his Christian family, in his Catholic Church, with its strong tradition of faith and liturgy. And the fact that this theologian-to-be was to become a pioneer of Christian unity is also linked with his having witnessed in Sedan the friendly way in which Catholics, Protestants and Jews lived together.


This brings us to a second reason for publishing such a diary. Congar was destined to occupy an important place in the history of the Christian Churches during the 20th Century. In order to show how this was so, it is first necessary to summarise his career. In 1921, he entered the University seminary in Paris, which he left in 1925 in order to join the Dominican novitiate. There followed the years he spent in the Saulchoir House of Studies, then located in Kain near Tournai in Belgium, followed by specialised studies. He then became a member of the new team of professors, first at Kain, then at Étiolles near Corbeil, under the leadership of Frère Marie-Dominique Chenu. From 1932 until the Second World War, he taught, contributed to a number of Parisian magazines, created a collection, ‘Unam Sanctam’ in the recently founded Éditions du Cerf, and published an important work, Chrétiens désunis [Divided Christendom] (1937).


After the ‘phoney war’ and his own imprisonment, he returned to Saulchoir d’Étiolles for some very fruitful years of publication in the stimulating environment which was the Catholic Church after the Liberation. Vraie et fausse réforme dans l’Église [True and False Reform in the Church] (1950); Jalons pour une théologie du laïcat [Lay People in the Church] (1953), among many others, proved very popular. Disapproved of because of his ecumenical gestures, his involvement in the priest-worker movement, and to a greater extent in the reformist climate that was being reined in during the latter years of the papacy of Pius XII, he experienced enforced silence and exile. Brought to Strasbourg by Mgr Wéber in 1956, he resumed his work in better conditions until the preparations for Vatican II and then the implementation of the Council itself, which represented for him an astonishing rehabilitation, enabling him to collaborate decisively in the composition of the Council documents and to become increasingly influential up to the time of his death in 1995. His death was preceded by a long and painful illness which he lived out as a patient in the Hôpital des Invalides, and he took little notice of his nomination as a cardinal. Between 1960 and 1982, a further wide-ranging series of publications enriched his work. These included La Tradition et les traditions [Tradition and Traditions] (1963); Chrétiens en dialogue [Dialogue between Christians] (1964); L’Église: de saint Augustin à l’époque moderne (1970); Diversité et communion dans les Églises [Diversity and Communion] (1982/4).


If one wishes to list in order of importance the reasons for Yves Congar’s influence on the Churches in our century, one must begin with the fact of his being a historian and the importance, in his eyes, of history, both of these factors being the fruit of his formation at the Saulchoir, thanks to Frère Chenu. His historical works review many questions, and his recourse to history in order to clarify many of the matters being debated in the Catholic Church and between the Churches was to prove decisive. After his death, it was said that his work in this area had been on the same level as that of a Braudel or a Duby 1.


In the second place, from the early 1930’s onwards, Yves Congar was convinced that he was being called to serve the unity of Christians. And he responded to this call with a work, a dedication, an ability to listen and a love for the ‘separated brethren’ that were truly extraordinary. Personal contacts, meetings, publications, created a considerable stir from 1936 onwards and continued to do so until he was forced to quit this field. Even though, after the Council, he did not become a specialised and official ‘ecumenist’, his considerable influence nevertheless continued.


Finally, at the time when work for unity, from the Catholic side, was halted – round about 1950 – in order to move things forward on a long-term basis thanks to his Church having progressed, and also with a view to renewing the Church itself (this had always been his particular passion), Frère Congar embarked on the study of a number of problems. These included the Reformation, tradition, the laity, priesthood and other ministries, the missions, all of which were to become the questions and problems which, thanks to the impetus given to them by Pope John XXIII, were to form the agenda of the Council in an attempt to bring the Church up to date. He devoted himself to this work with exceptional competence, loyalty and freedom. Hence, the immense and enduring effect of his work.


Jean-Pierre JOSSUA OP
30 June 1997


 


1 Both Fernand Braudel and Georges Duby were outstanding French historians (Trans).









FOREWORD


Frère Congar entered the Novitiate of the Province of France of the Order of Preachers in 1925. He died at the Institution des Invalides in Paris on 22nd June, 1995. Hence, this indefatigable preacher and theologian lived among his Dominican brethren for seventy years; in particular he was one of the principal periti at the Second Vatican Council, which ended on 7th December, 1965.


One of the things Yves Congar was passionately concerned about was the Church and its unity, as well as its presence in the world of the 20th century.


But, before all that, Yves Congar was a small boy. He was ten years of age when the First World War broke out in 1914. He felt his vocation come to birth in him as far back as 1917, as he hints in his boyhood diary.


His Dominican brethren were particularly touched and moved when the five school exercise books in which he had written throughout the five war years in such a very personal and positive way were discovered after his death.


During those five difficult years, other precocious passions were expressed: France and freedom, which he was to continue to defend in later life, in particular during his years of captivity during the Second World War. And already we see his love of describing in detail what he sees, what he feels and what he thinks.


Thus, once again, but in a very original way, the face and personality of our famous elder brother are presented to us.


Frère Éric T de CLERMONT-TONNERRE OP
Prior Provincial, Province of France, 1992–2001









PREFACE


Monday 3rd January, 1994. Paris, metro line n° 8.


I am on the way to ‘Salle Turenne’ in the Hôpital des Invalides to visit my uncle. Uncle Vonet – the Dominican Yves Congar – is very ill. He is now almost unable to write or to move without propelling his electric wheelchair as quickly as possible. His memory and his mind have remained intact. That gives me great pleasure whenever I go to see him; we very often have animated conversations.


This visit is one of the first in the year and his thoughts turn to the 1914-1918 war. Yes, it was eighty years ago this year ... Then he talks to me about his boyhood diary which he wrote in Sedan during the five years of that war. From memory, he quotes for me the famous comment he made on 25th August, 1914: ‘This is the beginning of a tragic story ...’. There will be several refer-ences to it in the course of this book. As happens every time he recalls those terrible events, he is deeply moved and refuses to say any more.


During subsequent visits, Uncle Vonet again mentioned his diary. During the long summer holidays of 1914, my grand-mother, Tere, asked her four children to keep a holiday diary that they would write up more or less each day, as they chose. She never thought that her suggestion would reach an ultimate conclusion 80 years later.


There were four Congar children. Pierre, Robert, Marie-Louise and Yves. The close-knit family lived in a large family property situated in the Fond de Givonne, one of the suburbs of Sedan, Ardennes, on the road leading to Belgium, the road to the North, the road of Invasions.


I was intrigued by this wartime diary of which my uncle seemed so very fond. He had undoubtedly included many details, details analysed by a very lively ten-year-old boy, who admired his two older brothers, ‘the Big/Older Ones’1, and was also very close to Mimi, his beloved sister (Mimi was born in 1902, Yves in 1904). Whenever we spoke of the Ardennes, of the trees, the rivers, the mists, the snow, of the house at ‘85 Fond de Givonne’, my uncle became animated and reverted to the sensitivity of his adolescence. He emerged from his surly wild boar shell. Every day he studied the silhouette of this animal, emblem of the Ardennes, in the photograph placed in a prominent position on his desk full of books and magazines in his room at the Invalides, the window of which looked out onto the golden dome where lay the Emperor he so admired.


I was equally moved by all he told me as I, too, had often played with my brothers and sisters and my cousins in the very same places, among the same trees, and we had played the same silly tricks.


But although the year 1994 caused my uncle to recall the year 1914, it also represented an important date for him as he would turn 90 on 13th April, 1994. Every time I visited him, he mentioned what was, for him, this mythical date in order to ensure that we, too, thought about it and took the necessary steps.


We decided to prepare a celebration. The devoted staff of the Invalides helped me considerably. There were to be two stages. First, a drink with his loyal companions in captivity (Colditz – 1939-40 war); then a reception in the room of his beloved Père Tournier2. My son Bruno undertook to cut and distribute the birthday cake and to help in pouring the champagne. His Dominican Brethren were there. Yves Congar was deeply moved. The Provincial, Frère Éric de Clermont-Tonnerre, read to him a letter from Pope John Paul II and a great number of greetings from both France and abroad. He also received a lovely letter, warm and personal, from the Master of the Order, Fr Timothy Radcliffe. The old wild boar from the Ardennes was more than overcome.
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Left: Yves Congar with his wet-nurse.
Right: Monsieur and Madame G Congar have pleasure in informing you of the birth of a son Georges-Yves (13th April).


Sedan, 16th April 1904.
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Left: Marie-Louise, Lucie (née Desoye) and Yves, on his mother’s lap.
Right: Robert, Georges (the father) and Pierre Congar.


Sunday, 30th October, 1994. I learnt, from France-Inter, that my uncle had been nominated Cardinal. He was very pleased. But it had come too late; he was too old, too ill.


Monday, 31st October, 1994. I went to the Salle Turenne at the Invalides to congratulate him. He managed to smile in spite of the intense pain. He asked me to get a cardinal’s skull cap for him as soon as possible.


Tuesday, 6th December, 1994. I went to see my uncle. He was no longer in his room but in the intensive care unit to which he had been admitted as an emergency. He had suffered a cardiac arrest and everybody was worried. But he wanted to recover, he wanted to be present at the ceremony of presenting the Cardinal’s hat. He would hold on. We were all amazed by his determination and his courage.


Thursday, 8th December, 1994. A Cardinal in the church of Saint-Louis des Invalides! It was Cardinal Jean Willebrands, special envoy of Pope John Paul II, who presented him with the hat and the ring. Closely observed by his somewhat anxious doctors, Uncle was present at the ceremony up to the time of Communion. He could not stay any longer. He was brought back to his room as quickly as possible and once more attached to his breathing apparatus.


Then he recovered and returned to his room on the first floor in the Turenne wing where his dedicated nursing staff and Père Tournier were waiting for him.


A few days later, I recalled with him this nomination and the emotion that we had experienced in hearing the very warm and affectionate address by Cardinal Willebrands. Uncle Vonet found it difficult to speak but even so he managed to recall the Ardennes, the 1914 war, his diary, the suffering he endured, his Dominican brethren around him and helping him, but from whom he regretted being separated.


Tuesday, 21st February, 1995. Uncle received the cross of an officer of the Légion d’Honneur from the hands of the Governor, General Maurice Schmitt, in the Salle des Boiseries at the Invalides. In a very fine speech addressed to ‘Monsieur le Cardinal, my captain’, General Schmitt quickly reviewed the religious and military life of Yves Congar, and he concluded: ‘Monsieur le Cardinal, yours has been an extraordinary destiny, as a man of the Church, as a soldier. You deserve the Officer’s Cross of the Légion d’Honneur for a number of reasons. I am now going to present it to you in the presence of the members of your family, of the former inmates of Colditz, of your Dominican brethren and finally of those who are here around you’.


Monday, 27th March, 1995. Representatives of the Ardennes General Council made a special trip to Paris in order to pay honour to the ‘Cardinal of the Ardennes’. He was given a rug worked in Sedan stitch featuring a wild boar standing and looking out. He asked me to fix it to the wall close to his bed.


More will be said about the Ardennes, Fond de Givonne, Kiki, the War, Tere, Mimi. This First World War made a deep impression on Yves Congar and our family to all of whom he felt so closely united.


Thursday, 22nd June, 1995. Uncle Vonet died alone in his room while he was having his breakfast.


Monday, 26th June, 1995. Notre-Dame de Paris. Funeral Mass of Cardinal Yves Congar. He was buried beside his great friend, Frère Marie-Dominique Chenu, in the Dominican vault in Montparnasse cemetery.


Monday, 29th April, 1996. Frère André Duval from the Priory of Saint-Jacques, the Provincial archivist, wrote to me: ‘It’s here! ... After going through half a cubic metre of cardboard boxes, I have found the five exercise books of Yves Congar’s diary of the 1914-1918 war. It’s sensational!’


Tuesday, 30th April, 1996. I hurried to Saint Jacques. There I saw for the first time the diary of a little ten-year-old boy, the youngest of a family of four, a little fellow who dearly loved France, a little fellow who was to become a Dominican Friar and a theologian, who was to take part in Vatican II, become a cardinal and be buried with the French flag in Notre Dame de Paris.


It was with deep emotion that I then opened, read, studied those five school exercise books. I was discovering my uncle as a child, I was seeing my grandparents, my family, ‘my’ Fond de Givonne, because we all have a ‘Fond de Givonne’ at the bottom of our hearts.


I will leave to the reader the surprise of discovering, through these pages, all that the land of the Ardennes and its civilian population went through during those painful years.


I would like to address a few words to my uncle’s many German friends and ask them to realise that this diary was written by a young patriotic boy who expressed himself with great, and at times brutal, frankness. I dare to hope that they will not hold it against him.


We hope that the notes, the appendices and the three important texts which follow the Diary, which has been reproduced as faithfully as possible, will provide the reader with all the explanations he or she will need.


Even as early as 1914, in writing and, a few years later, re-reading his Diary, Yves Congar was almost certainly thinking of the possibility of it being published. This has now happened thanks to Éditions du Cerf and the historical work of Stéphane Audoin-Rouzeau.


I sincerely hope the reader will experience what I myself have felt in reading these five exceptional exercise books.


Dominique CONGAR
Paris, 15 February 1997


 


1. ‘les grands’


2. Unidentifiable.









EDITORIAL NOTE TO THE FRENCH EDITION


Yves Congar’s original French text
has been respected as far as possible
in transcribing it for publication.
Readers should not be surprised to see reproduced
the spelling and grammatical mistakes to be found in the original text,
written by a child aged ten in 1914
and fourteen when the war came to an end.
We have also endeavoured to respect
as far as possible the author’s choice of presentation.
All the headings are also his.


Stéphane AUDOIN-ROUZEAU
Dominique CONGAR
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SEDAN – Looking down Fond-de-Givonne.
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Yves [Vonet] and Marie-Louise [Mimi] on the day they
made their First Communion (Sedan, 5th June, 1914).
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[Cover of first exercise book
containing Yves Congar’s Diary]
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MONDAY, 27th July 1914 3


Today rumours of war were already in the air. A Serb had killed the son of the King of Austria and Austria wanted to declare war on Serbia. This means that Germany for its part would be fighting against France which is in alliance with Serbia.4 The wives of military personnel were all worked up, there were queues at the banks and at the Savings Bank, people wanting to withdraw their money. Sedan was on edge on account of the false news that was making the rounds in the town. Pierre 5 was in Germany and we were worried. We did not really believe there would be war. The Military are not allowed to go further than 2 km.


Tuesday 28th July 1914


The same as Monday, but worse. Everybody is very worried and upset.


Wednesday 29th July 1914


I am not at all reassured. I can only think about war. I would like to be a soldier and fight. I believe in today’s declaration[.] [W]e are going to gather pectoral flowers to make herbal tea. No news of Pierre. I have colic.


Thursday 30th July 1914.


I still have colic. Instead of going to Raucourt, I am going to Grandma’s6. I shall sleep there. Taïe 7 is ill. The news is worse. I believe there will be war. My thoughts are all going round and round in my head. Anxiety about Pierre. People are beginning to believe there will be war. Notes are being exchanged for gold. There is panic in Charleville. The trains are in the station ready to start. And they are beginning to call up the reservists. Sedan is neutral. The President of the Republic is back. There is talk of an interview with the Emperor of Germany on the waters of the Kiel. People are beginning to buy supplies in town. Fond de Givonne 8 is fairly quiet. We would like to arrange for Pierre to come back. Golden five-franc pieces are being given in exchange for the 10 franc ones.


Friday 31st July 1914.


A telegram has been sent to Pierre telling him to come back at once [illiquot9]. Tere 10 is getting in provisions. We are alright for three months with the animals, the bread and the vegetables. Motor cars and carts are being requisitioned. The 28th, the 30th and the 147th 11are leaving for the Frontier. It is very serious. Germany has declared war on Russia12. The soldiers are very cheerful but not in our house. My aunt would like to come to Sedan but the increasing seriousness of the situation makes it impossible. The 91st line [regiment] is replacing the 147th.


Saturday 1st August


War has almost been declared. It is very serious. No news of Pierre. Mr Girardin has gone. All one sees is women in tears. At about 4 p.m., Madame Girardin came in tears [saying] the French are at Thionville and have been fighting since 11 a.m. It’s a lie. At 4.30 p.m., trumpets were blown throughout Fond de Givonne. It was the general mobilisation. We were all afraid on account of Pierre.


Sunday 2nd August 1914.


We went to Mass although Tere was not too keen on the idea. We went to Vespers while Tere and Papa went to see if there were trains running for Pierre. We too went to see but we saw nobody. That made us all very anxious. The war is coming close.


Monday 3rd August 1914


Pierre has not returned. We are very afraid for him. It is thought that he has been unable to return. In the afternoon Grandma came and told Tere that she had good news about Pierre. Tere guessed at once that he was there with her. She went to look for him and was beside herself with joy. Pierre was hungry and tired. He went off to rest and ate and drank a lot. We were happy that day and no longer believed in the war, but it was very close just the same.


Tuesday 4th August 1914.


We went to Grandma’s. Much more at ease, we set about amusing ourselves. In the evening Papa told us that war had been declared between France and Germany and that the German ambassador was leaving Paris. We made war on Hélin 13 .


Wednesday 5th August 1914


In the morning we heard the firing of a cannon. War is all one thinks about. There are 4 regiments in Sedan, the 2nd Cavalry etc. They sent 2 men to Fond de Givonne in search of accommodation for the men and the horses. In the afternoon we took in horses and the person of M. Vernier, Paris adjutant of the 2nd Cavalry military school. He is in Tere’s room and his horse Ebreuil and that of his orderly, Historia, under the pump.


Thursday 6th August 1914


Germany has violated Belgian territory;14 fierce resistance by the Belgians; bridges have been blown up; the Germans retreated northwards after having burnt down, sacked and destroyed, unremittingly etc. Skirmishes en route to Holland, whose territory was violated, after which England declared war on Germany.


Immense conflict: 10 nations shedding blood 15; the Germans shot the mayor of Sales for having aided the French as well as a chaplain, and several Alsacians, and murdered the President of the French memorial in Metz. There are more men than usual in Metz. No news about the army.


Germany has declared war on Belgium. We spent the afternoon attacking the lads. In the evening we heard that two 15 year old boys wanting to announce that the Germans were on their tail had got themselves shot. There was a skirmish between the French cavalry and the Uhlans16. Among the French: no damage. Among the Uhlans: 5 deaths. The Germans have bombarded Liège, which put up a good defence. The Belgians blew up two bridges. There is dynamite underneath the bridges in Sedan. About 67 military ambulance vehicles went along the Fond de Givonne in the morning and 33 in the afternoon, Some Hussar cannons, cars from the Galeries Lafayette in Paris and buses from Paris and 2 military planes. A quiet night.


Friday, 7th August, 1914


The rest of the buses passed by during the morning, as well as two military planes. The war is still being waged in Belgium, and the Belgians seem to be winning. The English have reached Namur in Belgium. Planes are flying overhead. German ships are being stopped at sea. Some of the German ships were bombarding Bône and Philippeville 17. Gibraltar is fortified. The Germans are bombarding Liège, which is being well defended.


The Germans are reduced to taking Liège street by street. The French have entered Alsace and captured Mulhouse and Colmar from the Germans, thanks to the battle of Altriech.18 Liège has not yet been taken. They are fighting street by street. The Germans have 3000 dead and they are asking for 24 hours in which to bury them and there are bodies 1 m. high lying in the streets of Liège. The Germans are going to have quite a pile.


[image: ]


Saturday, 8th August, 1914


The morning brought 3 German prisoners to Sedan. They were grumbling and saying that they did not have enough to eat. They thought they were going to get in as easily as a knife through butter but that’s enough, Germany, the blood of your victims cries out for vengeance!! The stalwarts in Liège are still holding out. The Battle of Altriech has been confirmed. Seemingly, the soldiers took the town in a bayonet charge while the cavalry pursued the German rear-guard. The people of Alsace are triumphantly moving the frontier posts which they have uprooted. There was a battle with marbles in Fond Collasse.19


Sunday, 9th August, 1914


In the morning we went to Mass. On our way back, Taie picked up a little cat. No further news.
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Monday, 10th August, 1914


In the morning, fighting in Longuyon was confirmed. We heard the cannon gun fire. In the afternoon, I was playing with Mimi.20 All of a sudden, I heard something falling outside. I looked out and saw some soldiers in the process of demolishing our railings, digging holes, and using the earth to create a wall covered with foliage and hiding behind it two machine guns with several thousand bullets. In the end I learned that they were on the watch for a German car which was due to pass over the bridge,21 and as our garden was right at the corner they could shoot at it from there. Later on, 6 men and a corporal encamped at Fond Colasse. The word is that 7 Frenchmen, including an officer, encountered 22 Germans including an officer. The French officer approached, shot the German officer’s brains out and the other Germans fled, leaving the body of their officer behind. The stalwarts in Liège are still holding out.22
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Tuesday, 11th August, 1914


The soldiers are still on watch. I brought them some food. The corporal was asleep. A German plane and a French one flew overhead; they exchanged fire. Tere is cooking for the soldiers.


Wednesday, 12th August, 1914.


The soldiers left their post. We heard that the German plane had crashed a little further on. There was a storm. A lot of troops went by. Nothing new this evening. A German prisoner went by between two Belgian policemen wearing police caps. The German officer is bony, thin and yellow because he has not eaten for several days. He was wearing a peaked cap. I called out to him: casque à pic chfaing23 (‘spiked helmet coward’) since he was passing grenadiers of the Belgian king, Albert the First. They have huge bearskins and several scores of bundles of fuses.


Thursday, 13th August, 1914


There is talk of fighting in Illy and people are saying that the Germans have bombarded Pont à Mousson. We played. In the evening a French and a German plane passed overhead. The French have taken a prisoner with a spiked helmet; he is thin and yellow. He passed along Fond de Givonne. Everyone called out: ‘casque à pic’.


Friday, 14th August, 1914


The Germans are bombarding Pont à Mousson. The Belgians are still holding out. I went with Papa to look for news. There was none. A German pilot has been killed. There is news of Jean Stakler,24 he had fought but was not wounded. There are 12 soldiers at Fond Colasses. The planes are being camouflaged.


Saturday, 15th August, 1914


Mimi’s and Taïe’s feast-day. No further news.


Sunday, 16th August, 1914.


We went to Mass and played at boats. The light infantry gunners went by. There were a great many of them.


Monday, 17th August, 1914


We played at boats. Nothing special happening. A lot of wounded went by on their way to the station, and on from there …


Each German plane that passes overhead causes a cannonade and crashes between Florenville and Carignan25.


Tuesday, 18th August, 1914


We played and got ready to go to Grandma’s. The great battle has not yet begun. German planes are being brought down in the town.


Wednesday, 19th August, 1914


A German plane crashed in Carignan. It is thought that this village would be where the enemy army would enter. We can hear cannon fire. German planes fly past. One flew very low. It fell not far away and the French shot the soldiers and the officer who were in it on the spot. The Germans have been driven back to Florenville. Three regiments of artillery have left Sedan. A Hennecart 26 has been sent to Abbeville. He was allowed to remain in Mézières. The people of Sedan are saying that the Germans would like to go northwards.


Friday Thursday 20th August, 1914.


We can hear cannon gun fire. The Germans are in Brussels from which they have demanded the sum of 200,000,000 Francs. They have reached Namur.


Saturday, 21st [August, 1914]


We can hear cannon gun fire. There is fighting in Bertrix27. Whole trains are arriving full of wounded people. The supply carriages are returning. Everyone is just waiting. They are in Neuchâtel28.


Sunday 22nd, 23rd [August 1914]


We can hear cannon fire: Belgian emigration began this morning. Seven artillerymen returned who had left their equipment behind which was then taken by the infantry who say that they were fighting blind and 10 against 1 – then 2 regiments, the 3rd and the 4th and finally the artillery: 2 regiments in good order: a cannon gun, a caisson. The Belgians are continuing to flee. People are saying that the Germans have committed unspeakable atrocities29. It is pathetic to see these poor Belgians passing by, some trailing a child in a pram followed by old people walking with difficulty and finally the children carrying a small packet in their hand and driving their flocks ahead of them, while others with two mattresses on 2 carts with crying children on top of them, old people and women looking sadly at their meagre possessions.


Monday 24th [August 1914]


The cannon fire is very loud. The Belgians are still passing by. Something is expected to happen this afternoon. The French are beginning to flee. Catherine 30 has come from Givonne with nothing except the child’s pram full of things but without her 3 cows and her colt. They ate with us and they were asked to stay. According to them, there are Uhlans in Givonne wood. To make room for them, we are going to Grandma’s. This evening M Douffet arrived from Fond de Givonne. He said: I have left Carignan which is occupied. Bullets are raining down on the railway at night. People are continuing to flee from these unspeakable barbarians.
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SEDAN – Houses in Fond-de-Givonne systematically set fire to by the Boches [sic] by means of incendiary bombs in 1914.
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Tuesday, 25th August, 1914


Here begins a tragic story; it is a sad and sombre tale written by a child who has ever in his heart love and respect for his country and a great and righteous hatred for a cruel and unjust people31.
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Tuesday! Cruel Tuesday and day of suffering


doubly marks the time of the evil spell


When will be the day of deliverance


that will put joy and fire in one’s heart.





We were just getting up when Grandma came and said to me: Vonet, Vonet, you must put your soldiers away; unfortunately, the Germans are not far off. It was true because I went out as soon as I had put the soldiers away and I heard shooting and saw a plane overhead. I went back in and almost at once, while the shooting was still going on, the ‘big ones’ appeared32. ‘They’re here. They’re here. They’re behind us’. I went to the dining room to look out and opened the window. The Uhlans were just coming round the corner from the avenue to the embankment, then we heard the door, it was Tere. At that moment about thirty engineers were passing, following a wagon loaded with sticks of dynamite.


The Uhlans are back. Oh! The wretches; they are passing the window; we heard a guttural order: aarrarrrnncharr33, they halted and got in line to go to the station when, hearing the shooting from engineers in Place d’Alsace, they turned round, reloaded, and there was an enormous ‘puff’, or perhaps 2, and 2 horses fell dead in front of the window. Bullets were flying in both directions. The French were shooting a lot. All the Uhlans fell dead; 6 horses in the neighbourhood and 2 Uhlans, 1 Frenchman. At about 9 am, cannon fire began in the ‘marfée’34. The boches35 have established themselves in Fond de Givonne[:] 12 Batteries at Iges, 2 batteries and more or less everywhere (one Boche battery: 5 canons (one French: 4)) the cannon is booming all the time[,] the machine gun and the rifle. We went to the dining room to look out and we heard the Germans hammering with their rifle butts on M Benoit’s door to see if there were any troops or form of defence there. They shot M Benoit’s and M Dupont’s dog simply because they were barking [and] warning the French about the German patrols – another time we heard a patrol passing along our wall and then, in French: ‘Silence!!’ At midday nobody was very hungry. All that had sealed our stomachs. Our dog has not eaten – in the afternoon the cannon went on booming loudly and the French were firing a lot.




the cannon booms and booms again,


killing men and spreading fear


without stopping the cannon provides


bullets for amateurs





The first German infantry went by. The cannon went on booming. At about 5 o’clock anxiety became intense, the bridges blew up. It was fantastic. Howfever, Grandfather36, who is over 70, knows about these things and he was wondering whether perhaps it was the town itself that was blowing up (9 explosions). The French, behind the railway bridge, had taken some bales of woollen material from Mr Stackler’s and were shooting from behind them, so much so that the cannon balls and the shells were embedded in the soft wool and they were shooting extremely well. From there they caused the Germans the loss of 40 men and unfortunately also a civilian who was shot by? ... At about 6 pm, the French engineers set fire to Mme Stackler’s house.
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SEDAN – Church of St Étienne deliberately set on fire by the Germans as they invaded the town on 25th August 1914.


But the Germans, the Boches, wretches, thieves, assassins and arsonists were setting fire to things: our nearby Givonne church, the chapel at Fond de Givonne, Glaire Longyon, Donchery with incendiaries and many more besides37.


In the evening we drank broth which was a help; in the evening, too, Grandfather went to the riverside38 to have a look. There was an immense amount of smoke. We went to bed but did not sleep, the cannon went on booming then there was a knock on the shutter, I wondered who it could be, then I heard: ‘It’s me. It’s Catherine’. Papa came and said: The church in Fond de Givonne is on fire and the houses by the bridge as well. At 7 pm, we went to sleep at Grandma’s39; it was impossible to sleep. On Wednesday morning, at about 8 am, the cannon started up again as loudly as on Tuesday, we no longer knew how to keep going. The cannon kept on booming. We were told that on Tuesday evening, they had been driven back to La Chapelle, Wednesday was an exact copy of Tuesday; at 4 pm we went to see the railway bridge; there were 30 bodies lying at our feet, the wounded were being removed, what fierce cries with our bloodied trousers[.] [O]n the way back, we saw some carrying their weapons with a workman leading them, others on bicycles chatting with the locals while the cannon went on booming, but not above the town as on Tuesday but from Noyer40 à la Marfée. We slept better but still without undressing. On Thursday the cannon was still booming. Tere went up to Fond de Givonne and saw the battle very clearly. She saw the German shells falling on the towpath. At about 3 o’clock we went up to the Fond de Givonne. What a doleful sight! We were all disorientated, but we will get used to it. On the way back a train with more than 400 wagons ... of ... Givonne fir trees to Torcy bridge.
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Sedan is full of Boches they are taking away weapons [that] we are bringing to them. They are demanding 250,000 gold pieces41


Saturday, 29th [August, 1914].


Pierre went to the Avenue as Grandfather is a hostage42. The cannon has moved further away.


Sunday 30th [August, 1914]


Nothing new.
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Monday 1st [September 1914]


The ‘big ones’ went to see the houses that had been burnt. They say that they are in ruins.


Tuesday 2nd [September 1914]


The town is calm. Papa is a hostage[.] We found an enormous piece of shell in the garden.


Wednesday 3rd [September, 1914]


All calm. At about 11 o’clock in the morning a captain called Caspari arrived asking to place two men with us; 250 men have come and established themselves in the vicinity, 2 mobile stoves, then they saw a herd of cows passing [and] immediately took one, killed and butchered it. They then left us, on condition that we buried the skin and the entrails, the head and the fat. They left at about 4 o’clock, to no-one’s regret!


Thursday 4th [September, 1914]


Calm, nothing new.
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Hortense Desoye (née Brière), ‘Grandma’ [and]
Frédéric Desoye, ‘Grandpa’.


Friday, 5th [September 1914]


We have an officer, Captain Nemnick lodging with us, he takes tea and he calls 8 others to take it with him, he takes it with good burgundy from M Dodelier’s, whose kepi and epaulettes he has taken, he orders the cooking of 4 hens, in the morning the orderly devours a whole one. Out of fear he slept with his orderly and a lieutenant.


Sunday, 6th [September 1914]


We went to Mass in the priests’ chapel.


Monday, 7th [September 1914]


Grandpa is a hostage. They don’t want more than 40. We have heard that they have suffered a fine defeat in Châlons!!43


Tuesday 8th [September 1914].


Nothing new.


Wednesday 9th [September 1914].


Papa is a hostage. We hear the cannon booming.


Thursday 10th [September 1914]


We went to Grandma’s. Pork is scarce. We returned home .Towards evening, we had some Boches to stay. They ate our salad and our potatoes; one is from Cologne, one from Silesia, the others from Saxe and one from Aix-la-Chapelle.


Friday, 11th [September 1914]


Nothing new, there is no news.


Saturday, 12th [September 1914]


Today, Grandpa was to be a hostage, but as the Boches are asking for 220, they will no longer be going so often so he did not go. A convoy of wounded on foot and lying on straw in farm carts went through Sedan. It is windy and it’s raining.


Sunday 13th [September 1914]


People are saying that the boches were defeated in Blagny (near Carignan). It is still windy and raining. We went to Grandma’s.


Monday 14th [September 1914]


There is nothing new. We had a history lesson with Père Pierre, a good man. It is raining.


Tuesday 15th [September 1914]


Still no news, but we are beginning to get used to it. The Boche planes are standing in the open area44 near Balan. They are clearly visible from the Windmill.


Wednesday 16th [September 1914]


The weather is fine. Mme Deloffre has been to Douzy to get some wheat ground and she saw 800 Uhlans arriving covered in mud like pigs – Ah! If only that were their retreat!! We would accept it cheerfully, but [no-one] asks us our opinion about advancing or retreating We went to Bazeilles where there are shells (1 m. long and weighing 240 kg), others 0.50 m. long and the shells [casing?] of ordinary pieces (75 mm in diameter), as well as barrels of powder. We brought back some bread.


Thursday 17th [September, 1914]


The weather is turning fine. We went to Grandma’s. Mr Helin went to Belgium and brought back butter and eggs. People are saying that Rheims Cathedral has been burnt, oh! What rats these Boches are45! A Boche plane has been burnt. We hear the cannon from Daigny.


Friday 18th [September, 1914]


We played in the garden. Still no news.


Saturday 19th [September, 1914]


This life surrounded by Barbarians, enemies of civilisation. Can it last for a long time, already a whole month without news, or supplies – Ah! I did not know that the future had so many things in store for me. It will have to be well garnished !!! … !!! …


Sunday 20th [September, 1914]


We went to Mass, again in the chapel as they have burnt down our church, they have occupied this Brothers’ school, 4 come to our new premises –


Monday 21st [September, 1914]


Tuesday 22nd


Nothing new at all


Wednesday, 22nd [September 1914]


The boches did not come down[.] A very quiet day.


Thursday, 24th [September 1914]


We went to Grandma’s. We can’t hear the cannon, the [month] of October is about to begin.


Friday 25th [September 1914]


Tere makes us settle down to work, we are going to have no bread46. What a deprivation! [F]or French people!


Saturday 26th [September, 1914]


Still no bread. These cursed Boches are forcing us to adopt a new diet.


Sunday, 27th [September, 1914]


Nothing new. We all went to Mass. Our worthy parish priest spoke, the Big Ones went for a walk through Illy47 where a German 4-star general was killed, then on through Floin [Floing] where 6 or 7 houses have been burnt down, and they came back home without a hitch.


Monday, 28th [September, 1914]


No news, but we could hear the cannon booming.


Tuesday 29th [September, 1914]


Nothing, it was raining, the cannon booming all the time.


Wednesday, 30th [September, 1914]


Fine weather. The cannon booming, Grandpa is a hostage, no other news.


Thursday 31st [sic!] [September, 1914]


Nothing, Grandpa was reported for having wine, oh such ‘verrats’48 [rats] of informers, they deserve to be burnt alive!


Friday 1st [October, 1914]


The cannon is booming very loudly, the Boches themselves are quite disturbed by it, it is being said that we have reached Rimogne and Vendresse[;] if only it were true.


Saturday 2nd [October, 1914]


We are hoping, the cannon is booming so loudly. The German trains have left. Pierre has tooth-ache. He wants to go to M Knott, but he has been replaced by a German dentist. In the end Mr Molard took it out.


Sunday 3rd [October, 1914]


Papa is a hostage. Instead of doing 12 hours at night, 12 hours by day, the requirement now is to do 4 hours at night and 10 in the daytime, which is not fair, however, if it were only that, things would not be too bad – the sun is shining, the cannon is booming, a convoy went by, we went to Mass, no bread, the officers have gone, there is a change of command.


Monday, 4th [October, 1914]


A white frost. Nothing new, yesterday’s train returned empty in order to go and be reloaded.


Tuesday, 5th [October, 1914]


It rained a little. No cannon to be heard. Trains passing.


Wednesday 6th [October, 1914]


Thursday, 7th


We went to Grandma’s. There are cars, some damaged, some not, waiting to be repaired or not, right in the middle of Place d’Alsace and on the left side of the Avenue. A group of 8 or 10 Boches, all wounded, went by. – We could hear the cannon booming.


Friday, 8th [October, 1914]


Wilhelm, having established his headquarters in Charleville49, has gone from there, it is being said that the French are in Tournes.


Saturday, 9th [October, 1914]


Maria Bourbon’s granddaughter has died. On the way to the cemetery we met a Boche who wanted Pierre to show him the way to Place Turenne, so that he could go from there to Charleville. We refused, but he will not be able to get there as the bridge has been destroyed


Sunday, 10th [October, 1914]


We went to Mass – Men fit for military service who have escaped from the French territorial army are to present themselves to the command post; hence, as we have seen up to now, every time they do us a favour of this kind, things must not be going well for them.


11th Monday [October, 1914]


The Théatre des Frères near our little chapel is in flames. Trains are going by empty and returning empty.


12th Tuesday [October, 1914]


Defeat for them: a charming gesture has just been announced for us: those who have cars or bicycles are to bring them at once to the command post, under pain of being sentenced under martial law – the trains which go past empty return empty.


13th Wednesday [October, 1914]


Tere is ill. The cannon is booming very loudly, we will not be able to bake more than twice or three times a week as the Boches have taken the flour for themselves.
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Thursday 14th [October, 1914]


It’s cold and windy. The cannon is very loud even at night.


Friday, 15th [October, 1914]


The cannon is still booming, but much further away. The weather is fine. The housework is still being done. In the evening the cannon came nearer. Once again a ray of hope: the officers are moving around, above all they are leaving [but] we later heard that it was only a change of army corps. What a disappointment!!! …


General Impressions


I had read in history: ‘The Huns entered France burning everything before them’. Seemingly, therefore, it is legitimate, after 1400 years of civilisation, to find once again in Europe such a barbaric and fire-loving race, this race which in Belgium, in Louvain, in Liège, and throughout the country, chose to reveal its barbarity. The countries that have been invaded could go and complain to the court in The Hague50 about all the gifts and qualifications of these rotten and barbaric thieves and arsonists. They probably wanted to show us their (so-called hygienic51, gentle, gracious and agreeable) way of acting.




In Belgium they have set fire to 2,000 villages;


In France they have rationed our bread and meat for two weeks;


They have taken and even stolen our straw, our copper, ivory and


the property of more than 8,000,000 inhabitants.





They have looted the cellars, empty houses, the fir trees, the nut trees, the telegraph poles, money and small change. Like the Romans and the Assyrians they have demanded a war tribute, men and cattle; in brief, they have treated us as badly as they possibly could under the pretext of making us live hygienically and at our ease; in order to extract a half-penny per family, they have printed false notices and have made the price of bread exorbitant.


Never again in my life, surely, will I see anything so horrible.


This page has been written in order to state something of the truth and should be attached to Wilhelm’s back.


Saturday 16th [October, 1914]


Tere is still laid up; we are becoming quite good cooks. Pierre and Robert are going to the classes organised by Mme Dervin. Bread is becoming very scarce. Oh the bastards! It’s not hygiene that they are forcing on us in that, they are preventing us from eating: the grocery shops are empty.


Sunday 17th [October, 1914]


Monday 18th


Still no bread Tere is a bit better. It’s raining.
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Tuesday 19th [October, 1914]


No bread. Tere is better. No news.


Wednesday 20th [October, 1914]


The cannon is booming very loudly. Grandpa was in his office writing, then without hearing any footsteps he heard ‘knock, knock, knock’ and said: ‘Come in’. Two Boches (a lieutenant and a soldier) came in and said; ‘Haven’t you got a telephone?’ ‘Yes, there it is.’ ‘Right, we are taking it.’ So they unscrewed it and took it; they wrote ‘…’ on a piece of paper and went away leaving Grandpa with about ten screws and totally dumbfounded.


Thursday, 21st [October, 1914]


We walked to Noyer but it was raining heavily and we had the wind against us. In the end, having splashed about in the mud for an hour, we could see Noyer very well. We brought back some underpants, a bag and all sorts of little souvenirs.
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the officer and the soldier.


Friday, 22nd [October, 1914]


The college has acquired another teacher: M Claudel – the cannon is booming very loudly. It is coming closer. Oh! If only the French could return – in the evening it was very windy.


Saturday, 23rd [October, 1914]


It is now forbidden to turn on the slightest light after 8 pm, on pain of a 500 mark fine52 – the cannon is even nearer. Oh! What a blessing!! The Boches are afraid they will be coming back. They have fortified the fir tree bridges concealing the cannon guns!!


Sunday, 24th [October, 1914]


The weather is fine. We went to the cemetery. Tere will be getting up tomorrow.


Monday, 25th [October, 1914]


The cannon was booming very loudly, extremely loudly. A French plane passed over but no-one shot at it – we went for a walk – we went past Glaire, which has been completely torched, or nearly, and we went as far as Iges – there more than 1,500 Boches were killed by 35 Frenchmen. There too 3 batteries who, intending to fire at the Marfée 53, were in fact firing at Donchéry and setting it on fire; we were just about to go when we heard prrprrrem ziiiiiii prrrm: a bullet fired at us by the guardian of the bridge– we turned red then white, what a fright, we quickly moved away from there and returned home to tell our story to Tere.
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Come on, Michel, it’s a question of stealingThey know how to go about it.


Tuesday, 26th [October, 1914]


Another notice has appeared: it is forbidden for more than 3 people to meet together in the street. I now understand why we were shot at: there were 4 of us together: The guard at the bridge must have known about this beforehand and shot at a group of people whom he could see from afar – the Big Ones and Papa are making ready a cellar in which to store our potatoes so that the boches do not take them. Tere got up. Yet another plane has escaped the hands of the Boches.


Wednesday, 27th [October, 1914]


Nothing new. Work on the cellar is still going on; there are some huge stones to be removed.


Thursday, 28th [October, 1914]


There are now only two barbers, one in the town and one at the Fond so we go to Mr Briand. At about 6 o’clock in the morning two planes flew over the Marfée – It seems that a sergeant major has said that they had left Verdun.
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A battle in Argonne.


Friday, 29th [October, 1914]


What a shame! Catherine had managed to keep her foal and the 2 cows, [but] today they came and took away the foal, giving her in payment only a requisition voucher valid for after the war. Pierre has a headache.
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the seizing of the foal


Saturday, 30th [October, 1914]


Nothing new Pierre still has a headache.


Sunday, 31st [October, 1914]


We went to deliver the bikes54.


the seizing of the foal


Monday, 1st [November 1914]


Grandma came and told us that people are saying that we have crushed the 9th army corps in Alsace, capturing 300 cannon guns and 3 standards, that we have achieved a fine success in Sissone, that William has ordered a retreat from the north to Ypres; that they have been beaten in Châlons and that German officers will not in future be receiving more than half-pay and, this is certain, that the German soldiers have entered the church in Sedan 30 at a time in order to swear fidelity to the emperor.


(Saturday) Tuesday 13th [November 1914]55


Tere is up – nothing new.
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‘We swear our loyalty to the Emperor’.


(Sunday)
Wednesday 14th [November 1914]


The cannon is booming from a great distance.


Thursday 2nd [November 1914]


We went to Grandma’s. The boches’ front line now runs from Sissonne to Louvain.


Friday 3rd [November 1914]


The news that Italy was on our side has been denied but the boches have been defeated in Sissonne.
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Maison Vivi
Political east of France [Fr.0,50]


Saturday 4th [November 1914]


We don’t have a crumb of bread to eat –this clearly indicates that they have been defeated. Oh the rotters! They will let us die of hunger – too bad – after all we are French and if we have to die we shall die, but France will be victorious.


Sunday 5th [November 1914]


A notice has been posted: those who would like 100 kg of wheat flour must go and deliver to the station 800 kg of potatoes. Mme Leclerc did this but they gave her in exchange 100 kg of (potatoes) unkneadable black flour. We have black bread (probably from the Cameroons)56


Monday 6th [November 1914]


Tere had three visitors Mme de Rosbot, Mme Bazelaire [and] Mme leDuc. No news. No bread.


Tuesday 7th [November 1914]


It’s very cold. No news. The cannon is very loud.
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Resistance in the Marfée.


Wednesday 8th [November 1914]


No news. Grandpa is a hostage. The cows taken by the Boches have been brought down from Illy. The poor peasants who have already been burnt out followed behind. Oh! In 10 years time !!!!?


Thursday 9th [November 1914]


We went to Grandma’s. It is cold. No news.


Friday, 10th [November 1914]


No news. It’s 1° on the second floor57 in spite of the fire.


Saturday 11th [November 1914]


It’s cold and windy. It is thought that there is a wireless telegraph in Sedan connecting us to the French army. We have some black bread. Mr Theâtre found a French corporal’s diary on the Marfée of the 63rd. From Haraucourt he went to Bouillon where he was assigned to guard duty in the square in front of the church. From there he went to Balan and finally they were all led to Méssin where they advanced but saw nothing and were shot at. Whereupon they charged in all directions shooting at one another and were ordered to leave – this was the retreat – The people of Sedan is exasperated with the boches !!?


Sunday, 12th [November 1914]


No new developments


Monday, 13th [November 1914]


The boches are continuing to steal the cattle belonging to the peasants who have been burnt out
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Looting.


Tuesday 14th [November 1914]


We bought some coke. Trains full of guns and men are passing through the station.


Wednesday, 15th [November 1914]


It is snowing. We went sledging and in spite of the snow we could hear the cannon booming.
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the town on Thursday 28th November.


Thursday, 16th [November 1914]


Tere went to the butcher’s: no meat. During the night 54 trains went by. We went to Grandma’s. The town is a pathetic sight. Some beggars are going from door to door asking for a piece of bread.


Friday, 17th [November 1914]


Grandpa is a hostage so Mimi will go to lunch in the Avenue58. Trains are going by all the time; we hear the noise they make all the time.


Saturday, 18th [November 1914]


Nothing new. It is fine and the sun is shining. I have an upset stomach (Mr Goguel59 came but it is nothing).


Sunday 19th [November 1914]


Tere went to Mass, she is recovering very well. The cannon is booming very loudly, always in the direction of Rheims. No news.


Monday, 1st December [1914]


The cannon is getting very close. It would be great if it returned to Sedan, all covered in mud, out of shape, beaten up, ... 1 regiment of Uhlans, several cavalry men on foot [Chasseurs], machine guns, bullets, cases of food supplies, hay, thrown together pell-mell. If only that could be the great day, they have come from Vrigne aux Bois and Lugny. Grandpa was visited by an officer, but he will not be staying as he would be sleeping on the ground floor but his orderly on the 3rd, so he was afraid.
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The Retreat!


Tuesday 2nd [December, 1914]


One can’t sleep at night. Trains are continually whistling through the Ardennes. Tere stayed on in bed. Mme Brégi came to see her, still with no news of Jean. All the Boches are still there.


Wednesday, 3rd [December, 1914]


No news. Tere is still in bed. I am much better.


Thursday 4th [December, 1914]


Everyone went to Grandma’s except Tere and myself. Grandpa has had an operation. He has been pumped out. He is up. Hip, Mr Fery’s storekeeper, saw an officer who said he was his cousin and said to him: ‘What you are seeing here is a retreat in good order’.


Friday, 5th [December, 1914]


The town is in turmoil: people have got hold of what are said to be extracts from French newspapers saying that the Russians were in Berlin and Metz had been taken. The Vauches60 have some postcard-size photographs showing all the countries burnt by the boches.


Saturday, 6th [December, 1914]


No news. We have had a German newspaper it says nothing except that the Germans are at Koningsburg and Posen. We went into the town for confession, there is now no confessional.


7th Sunday [December, 1914]


It is being said that we are in Metz. The boches are pitiful, it is being said that the French government has appealed to the Vatican for the Pope to secure peace for us.


[image: ]


In Metz: the occupation.


Monday 8th [December, 1914]


The king of Saxe is furious with William for having led his men into fire instead of the Prussians; they had a quarrel and William in a rage threw his sabre into a mirror and broke it.


The fighting continues in Flanders and Poland. It is being said that in Alsace we are at Sarrebourg.
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William, Emperor of Germany or emperor of the Boches or the Huns.
The Crown Prince (young man).


Tuesday, 9th [December, 1914]


We can hear the cannon booming. It is raining. According to the Boches, Poincaré has made a speech saying that the war will not end until there is an announcement that Germany has been utterly defeated militarily, to which they replied: ‘Then, never’. Mr Cosson, the protestant pastor, is lending the little orphanage chapel to M le Curé 61. We haven’t a crumb of bread.


Wednesday, 10th [December, 1914]


Oh the pigs. This morning an endless convoy of balls of wool stolen from Mr Ringard passed by. Ringard Junior had been left on his own when the Prussians came without a requisition voucher, with nothing, to take the wool. He said to them: [‘]I must have a voucher, you should have one[‘]. What will his father say when he returns?


Thursday, 11th [December, 1914]


We went to Grandma’s. The big ones changed where the bikes were being kept, they were in the attic because they will soon be requisitioned. The cannon is clearly audible.


Friday, 12th [December, 1914]


In Grandma’s. We are obliged to clean the chimneys or pay a penalty, even though there is no chimney sweep.


Saturday, 12th [December, 1914]


People are saying that Hirson and Rethe have been recaptured, but we are being told the most outlandish news. It is probably not true but we have made an advance as the following notice has been posted up: ‘It is now forbidden under pain of a fine of 1200 marks or 1500 francs to go to Belgium in search of food or other provisions[‘]. Ah! They want us to starve. Alright then! In the next war our young people will go to Germany and starve them. They will see that they are turning the French against them, so much the better[.] I have never hated them so much. The price of [----------] has gone up: 7½ sous a pound, double the usual price. People say that Mr Bompard has been taken prisoner.


Sunday, 13th [December, 1914]


The protestant chapel is fine but small, but we will be happy with it. Grandpa came to see us, as well as Mme Bacot and her two sons.


Monday, 13th [December, 1914]


The boches came to search Grandpa’s house from top to bottom, from the cellar to the loft, the cupboards, boxes, bags. They found nothing [ill.]. They see a box, they give it a kick and say: ‘Right, that’s books.’ In fact, it was books. They send people familiar with the place to do the searching.
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Tuesday, 14th [December 1914]


Mme Girardin is collecting money to give something to the French wounded for Christmas. There is no fresh news. For a month or two people have been saying that they will have gone by Christmas; now they are saying by the end of February …


Wednesday, 15th [December 1914]


The cannon is booming very loudly – so much the better. No other news.


Thursday, 16th [December 1914]


The boches must have been defeated in yesterday’s battle. Whenever they have been defeated, a fresh tiresome notice appears. Today all are forbidden, under pain of 6 months’ imprisonment and a fine, to leave the town of Sedan, no-one is allowed to go either to Waldelincourt, Bazeilles, Floing [or] Givonne62 without a travel permit, several people have been to ask for one but were refused63.


Friday, 17th [December 1914]


In order to have our milk (as our milkman has gone) we had asked someone from Givonne, but she did not come; people are not allowed to move around. The boches (des trous de bals de poules 64) have taken charge of the mail. Calendars/timetables are being printed. No fresh news. The boches want a list of the hostages. Grandfather’s got it and he says he won’t give it [to them].


Saturday, 18th [December 1914]


Nothing. There is to be a meeting of the hostages on Monday. There has been no meat for the past two weeks. Slaughtering will now only take place every fifteen days, and there is still no milk.


Sunday 19th (20th) [December 1914]


We went to Mass. We went to the horse butcher. People are saying that the cannon we hear booming is in Buzancy65 because we can hear it very clearly; people even go up to the dyke66to hear it.


Monday, 21st [December 1914]


There is a notice (therefore a defeat): those aged between 16 and 20 years are to present themselves and register at the town hall. Clearly there is no need to repeat the threats of fines {marc[ks]} and prison, but people couldn’t care less. The hostages have been brought together. They are going to have to do disgusting kinds of work; they are to go through each area of the town to see if there are any weapons. They are putting Frenchmen against Frenchmen, it’s disgusting, that is not work!! Oh the boches, the cows!! ... !! Grandpa is to do rue St Nicola. Catherine returned from Givonne.


Tuesday, 22nd [December 1914]


Grandpa went out on his search at 8 a.m. It is raining, nothing new.


Wednesday, 23rd [December 1914]


The weather is getting wetter and wetter. Grandpa finished his search as they had settled that this was to be done before Wednesday.


Thursday 24th [December 1914]


It is Christmas Eve and we are rejoicing more this year because [it] is turning out to be [better] than the year that is coming to an end.


It is very cold. Grandpa is a hostage tonight: what an odd kind of midnight feast it will be for him and for us too. There is no Midnight Mass. A year ago one went in one’s sabots through the snow with one’s little lantern, [and] a wide-brimmed hat, moving over the old road lit up by the lights from the windows to the Church where the flickering light of the candles marked the shape of the altar where, at the bottom of a crib, our Saviour lay: so many voices singing hymns rose towards heaven. Now, on the old road soiled by the feet of foreigners everything is dull and silent, there are the ruins which are still smoking, there is the burnt-out church67, pasted to the wall is a threatening notice, there is the most compelling reason [of all], the invasion and devastation: the complaints of the unfortunate people who have not a crumb of bread, the hatred of this race who loot, burn and make prisoners of us, the country sealed off from its homeland where our white cabbages68, our leeks and our goods pass by in the hands of these robbers singing ‘Gloria, Gloria’; there is the town which is held to ransom by the conqueror, under the fiercest oppression and injustice of the aggressor, the undertone of steadily increasing hatred which will soon be overflowing like the water in a vase full to the brim [and] will be capable, within 10 years, of paying back our invader to the full.
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and the magician Ballo makes this year disappear
almost or very nearly with the wave of a sleeve.
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French soldier saluting.
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boche saluting.


Friday 25th [December 1914]


There is a notice: All the carrier and other pigeons in Sedan are to be killed under pain of a heavy fine or imprisonment. Second notice: It is expressly forbidden to leave the town without a passport[; the town] is declared to be in a state of siege, those who leave the town in search of food or other goods and who are caught will be thrown into prison and whatever they have on them, food or provisions, will be confiscated. We went to Mass in the morning; in the afternoon we went up to Algeria69
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